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District of Columbia 
Office of the State Superintendent of Education 

Office of Dispute Resolution 
810 First Street, NE, 2nd Floor, Washington, DC  20002 

(202) 698-3819   www.osse.dc.gov 
 

__________________________________________________________________     
Guardian, on behalf of Student,1  ) Room: 2006  
Petitioner,     ) Hearings: 11/4, 11/8 (2016) 
      )  HOD Due: November 26, 2016  
 v.     ) Hearing Officer: Michael Lazan  
      )  Case No.: 2016-0216 
District of Columbia Public Schools,  ) Issue Date: November 26, 2016  
      )  
Respondent.     )                                                    

 
HEARING OFFICER DETERMINATION 

 
I.  Introduction 

 
 This is a case involving a student who is currently eligible for services as a 

student with Multiple Disabilities.  (the “Student”)     

           A Due Process Complaint (“Complaint”) was received by District of Columbia 

Public Schools (“DCPS” or “Respondent”) pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities 

Education Act (“IDEA”) on September 12, 2016.  This Complaint was filed by the 

Student’s guardian and grandfather.   On September 19, 2016, Respondent filed a 

response.   The resolution period expired on October 12, 2016.            

II.  Subject Matter Jurisdiction 

 This due process hearing was held, and a decision in this matter is being rendered, 

pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Improvement Act (“IDEIA”), 20 U.S.C. 

Sect. 1400 et seq., its implementing regulations, 34 C.F.R. Sect. 300 et seq., Title 38 of 

                                                 
1Personally identifiable information is attached as Appendix A and must be removed prior to public 
distribution. 
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the D.C. Code, Subtitle VII, Chapter 25, and the District of Columbia Municipal 

Regulations, Title 5-E, Chapter 30. 

III. Procedural History 
  

 On the date of service of the Due Process Complaint, Petitioner filed Motion for 

an Expedited Due Process Hearing, but this motion was denied by order dated September 

28, 2016.   On October 13, 2016, this Hearing Officer held a prehearing conference. 

Attorney A, Esq., counsel for Petitioner, appeared.   Attorney B, Esq., counsel for 

Respondent, appeared.  A prehearing conference order issued on October 19, 2016, 

summarizing the rules to be applied in this hearing and identifying the issues in the case.    

On October 21, 2016, Petitioner submitted Motion to Compel Production of Documents.  

By order dated October 31, 2016, I denied this motion.  

 There were two hearing dates in this case, November 4, 2016, and November 8, 

2016.   This was a closed proceeding.   Petitioner was represented by Attorney A, Esq.  

Respondent was represented by Attorney B, Esq.   Petitioner moved in Exhibits 1-91. 

There were objections to Exhibits 65-71, 80-86, 88, and 90-91.   These objections were 

upheld with respect to Exhibits 85 and 88.  Other objections were overruled.  Exhibits 1-

84, 86-87, and 89-91 were admitted.   Respondent moved into evidence Exhibits 1-8.  

There were no objections.  Exhibits 1-8 were admitted.    

 Petitioner presented as witnesses:  Petitioner, the Student’s grandfather, 

designated as Witness B; Student; Witness H, the Student’s aunt; Witness A, a 

psychologist (expert: clinical psychology); Witness I, a community support worker; and 

Witness J, a provider of compensatory education services.   Respondent presented:  

Witness D, a social worker at School B; Witness C, an attendance counselor at School B; 
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Witness E, Director of Climate Operations at School B; Witness F, a Program Manager 

(expert: transition planning and services); and Witness G, a teacher at School B.    

               IV. Credibility. 

 In the main, witnesses were credible and reasonably consistent with each other 

and the documents on all issues of material fact.   The Student, however, had credibility 

issues.   For instance, the Student testified that there was no discussion of attendance 

issues with anyone from School B during the 2015-2016 school year.  However, the 

Student signed an attendance document in February, 2016 reflecting a conversation with 

the social worker, Witness D.  Additionally, service tracker logs indicate that the Student 

discussed attendance issues with the Witness D.  The Student also indicated that there 

was never a meeting with any behavioral counselors at all, even though it is clear from 

the testimony of Witness D and the many service trackers that the Student met many 

times with counselors, in particular Witness D.    

V. Issues 

 As identified in the Prehearing Conference Summary and Order and in the Due 

Process Complaint, the issues to be determined are as follows: 

 1.  Did the Student’s IEP dated April 12, 2016 provide an inappropriate 

classification, insufficient specialized instruction, an inadequate transition plan, 

inadequate information regarding the student’s current levels, inadequate behavioral 

support services, and inadequate supplemental aids and supports? If so, did DCPS violate 

34 CFR Sect. 300.320, 34 CFR Sect. 300.17, 34 CFR Sect. 300.324, and act in 

contravention of some of the principles in such cases as Hendrick Hudson Bd. Of Educ. 

v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176 (1982)? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE?  
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 2.  Did DCPS fail to provide the Student with a timely FBA in connection to 

the 2015-2016 school year? If so, did DCPS fail to assess the Student in all areas of 

suspected disability? If so, did DCPS violate 28 U.S.C. Sect.1414(b)(3), 34 C.F.R. 

Sect.300.304(c), and related provisions? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE?  

 3.  Did DCPS fail to provide the Student with an appropriate BIP for the 

2015-2016 school year? If so, did DCPS violate, inter alia, 34 CFR Sect. 300.320, 34 

CFR Sect. 300.17, 34 CFR Sect. 300.324, related provisions of the DCMS, and act in 

contravention of some of the principles in such cases as Hendrick Hudson Bd. Of Educ. 

v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176 (1982)? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE?  

 4.  Did DCPS fail to implement the Student’s applicable IEPs for the 2015- 

2016 school year? If so, did DCPS violate the principles in cases like Van Duyn v. Baker 

Sch. Dist. 5J, 502 F.3d 811, 822 (9th Cir. 2007)? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a 

FAPE?  

 Petitioner contends that the Student was not provided required IEP supports in 

academic instruction and regarding the IEP’s transition plan. 

 5.  Did DCPS provide the Student with an inappropriate educational 

placement for the 2015-2016 school year? If so, id DCPS act in contravention of some of 

the principles in such cases as Gellert v. District of Columbia, 435 F. Supp.2d 18 (D.D.C. 

2006)? If so, did Respondent deny the Student a FAPE?  

 Petitioner contends that School B is inappropriate because class sizes are huge, 

the school is not safe, the school is not therapeutic, and because the school does not 

respond appropriately to the Student’s disability. 

VI. Findings of Fact. 
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 1. This Student is eligible for services as a Student with Multiple Disabilities 

(Emotional Disturbance, Other Health Impairment).  The Student has a difficult personal 

history which includes a mother who has been “uninvolved” and a father who was 

tragically murdered.   Personality testing show the Student withdraws, has emotional 

outbursts, and the psychological profile of someone who is angry, resentful, and aliened.  

A psychiatric evaluation by the Government of the District of Columbia Department of 

Mental Health conducted of the Student on or about March 30, 2016 diagnosed the 

Student as having ADHD-combined type and Oppositional Defiant Disorder.  (Testimony 

of Witness A; P-62-2-5; P-63-14)  

 2. In May, 2011, the Student was given academic testing.   On the 

Woodcock-Johnson III Tests of Achievement, the Student scored in the average range in 

mathematics (7.0 grade level equivalent) and written language (5.6 grade level 

equivalent), with a low average score in reading (4.6 grade level equivalent).  (P-55; P-

63-4)   

 3. , the Student went to School A, where the Student 

received specialized instruction.   For the 2013-2014 school year at School A,  the 

Student received thirty-two hours per week of specialized instruction outside the 

classroom, 120 minutes of behavioral support services per month, and, according to an 

IEP, the following classroom aids and services:  clinical crisis intervention, frequent 

behavioral feedback, anger management training, management of low frustration 

tolerance, proximity management, frequent verbal redirection, cognitive restructuring, 

reduction of external stimuli, therapeutic restraint and seclusion, social skills training, 

training in self-regulation skills, repeated oral directions, step-by-step written directions, 
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simplified directions, reduced length and breadth of assignments, modified pacing of 

materials, frequent academic feedback, and rephrasing/simplification of questions and 

materials.  (Testimony of Witness B; P-14)  

 4. Notwithstanding these services, the Student had difficulty.  The Student 

continued to exhibit behavioral issues, including issues with tardiness, dishonesty, 

inappropriately dress, and sexuality.  Still, the Student’s attendance was in the acceptable 

range, with eleven absences during this school year.   (P-9; P-62-4)  

 5. , the Student’s new location of services for 2014-2015 was 

School B.  Services were slightly changed to 31 hours of specialized instruction outside 

of general education (per the IEP dated May 19, 2014), but behavioral support services 

(120 minutes per month) and the many classroom aids and services (supra, par. 3) were 

left the same.   (P-15) 

6. The Student did not like this school and began to stop attending.  For the 

2014-2015 school year, the Student had eighty-nine absences and failed two academic 

classes.   Still, some reports, such as the progress report from the second quarter, showed 

progress in reading, writing, and social and emotional development.   (P-10; P-15; P-21; 

P-59; P-62-4)  

 7. An IEP meeting was held for the Student on May 15, 2015.   The team 

determined that the Student’s behavior impedes others, and that the Student bottles up 

anger and sometimes explodes.   The Student was having difficulty concentrating, 

attending to instruction, and getting passing grades, and the Student was feeling hopeless 

at the time.   The team also considered the fact that the Student had recently been 

assessed through the test, Ohio Youth Problems Functioning and Satisfaction Scales 
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which indicated that the Student had too much energy, trouble concentrating, and trouble 

expressing feelings.  The team created an IEP that contained goals in math, reading and 

writing.  Social/emotional goals targeted arguing, yelling and screaming, and the ability 

to express feelings.   The Student was recommended for twenty hours of specialized 

instruction outside general education.  This represented a decrease of eleven hours 

weekly from the prior IEP.   The Student was also recommended for ninety minutes per 

month of behavioral support services.  This represented a decrease of thirty minutes 

monthly from the prior IEP.   (R-1; P-15) 

8. The Student continued at School B for the 2015-2016 school year, but 

immediately had difficulties.  Often, the Student would not attend or skip class.  If the 

Student went to class, the Student would sometimes feel like the work was too easy, 

finish it, and then go to sleep (or even leave the class).  As a result, in November, 2016, 

there was a meeting with the Student’s aunt, who agreed to tie the Student’s allowance to 

attendance.  (Testimony of Student; Testimony of Witness C; Testimony of Witness D; 

R-4-2; R-6-17-18; R-7)  

9. The Student did attend counseling during the 2015-2016 school year.2  

The Student’s counselor was Witness D, who worked on the Student’s anger and the 

Student’s family history.  She practiced “mindfulness” and gave the Student deescalating 

and self-centering techniques.  The counselor also sat in the classroom to give direct 

support to the Student.   The counselor also would meet the Student outside the 

                                                 
2 The Student was offered Behavioral Support Services for the following amounts of time: 20 

minutes, September, 2015; 90 minutes,  October, 2015; 180 minutes, November, 2015; 135 minutes, 
December, 2015; 90 minutes, January 2016; 195 minutes, February 2016; 90 minutes, March, 2016; 60 
minutes, April 2016; 60 minutes, May 2016; 60 minutes, June 2016.  (Testimony of Witness D; R-3; R-4-1-
5; P-64-3) 
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classroom.   This counseling had no effect on the Student’s attendance issues.  

(Testimony of Witness D)  

10.      About January, 2016, Witness D wrote a Functional Behavior Assessment 

(“FBA”) and Behavior Intervention Plan (“BIP”).    The FBA determined that the Student 

was chronically truant and unmotivated, and that the function of the truancy is 

escapism/avoidance of difficult academics.  The Behavior Intervention plan found that 

the Student’s behaviors were a function of inconsistent living arrangements and 

parenting.  The BIP recommended tying the Student’s allowance to school attendance, an 

intervention that was already in place after the meeting in November.   (R-4; P-64; 

Testimony of Witness D)   

11. Also during this approximate time, a truancy referral form to District of 

Columbia Superior Court was filed for the Student.   A psychiatric evaluation by the 

Government of the District of Columbia Department of Mental Health was conducted of 

the Student on or about March 30, 2016 diagnosed the Student as having ADHD-

combined type and Oppositional Defiant Disorder.  Psychological Testing on April 11, 

2016 found the Student to have a full-scale IQ of 84.   On the Woodcock-Johnson Tests 

of Achievement, 4th Edition, broad reading was at the 6.7 grade level equivalent, broad 

math was at the 6.3 grade level equivalent, and broad written language was at the 9.1 

grade level equivalent.  The psychological evaluation diagnosed Unspecified Trauma and 

Stressor Related Disorder, Specific Learning Disability with Impairment in Reading 

(mild), and Specific Learning Disability with Impairment in Math (mild).  (P-62-5; P-63-

9-10) 
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12. In February, 2016, an attendance support plan was created for the Student.   

In this plan, the Student indicated a desire not to be in special education classes.  The 

plan was to give positive incentives for positive behavior.  The plan indicated that the 

Student will attend classes on time if placed in general education.  (Testimony of Student; 

Testimony of Witness C; Testimony of Witness D; R-6-17-18; R-7)  

13. By April, 2016, the Student had 64 absences and was carrying F grades in 

all academic subjects but Spanish.  Still, in two classes, the Student is listed as having 

good participation.   An IEP meeting was then held on April 12, 2016.  Attending the 

meeting were, among others, the parent, a special education teacher, a social worker, and 

a counselor.  The April 12, 2016 IEP classified the student as a student with Multiple 

Disabilities (Emotional Disturbance, Other Health Impairment) and the Student’s special 

education hours were kept the same, at twenty hours outside general instruction weekly, 

with a reduction in the behavior support services minutes to sixty.  (R-2; R-6-1-9; P-11)  

14. Based on teacher reports, testing and report cards, this IEP noted mixed to 

poor performance from the Student.  The Geometry teacher said that the Student had 

been a positive influence in class and benefits from a daily checklist, but continued to 

struggle with using multiplication and division to solve formulas.  Reading and writing 

performance had declined because the Student would be distracted.  However, the IEP 

indicated that the Student made strides in attendance.  (Testimony of Witness G; R-2) 

15. The IEP also contained a transition plan.   The post-secondary transition 

plan in the IEP was based on an O*Net Interest Profiler, which showed that the Student 

scored high in “enterprising” and “social.” A Brigance test showed that the Student 

would like to pursue a career as a veterinarian, and the post-secondary goal referenced 4- 
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year college and medical school.  Transition services for employment related to 

researching colleges that offer veterinary medicine.  The plan references independent 

living, and offers nine hours per year of services in researching colleges, employment and 

living arrangements.  (P-16; P-18)   

   16. Toward the end of the school year, the Student was engaged in a fight with 

another student in the school.    The Student was suspended because of this fight, which 

made the Student even more reluctant to attend school.    (Testimony of Witness B; 

Testimony of Witness E)  

 17. By the end of the 2015-2016 school year, the Student had been marked 

absent ninety-seven days, and had gotten F grades in three academic subjects.   Still, there 

were some subjects where the Student did better, including English II (Student received a 

B even though missing twenty-six days of class in the fourth marking period).  There was 

also some progress in math, reading and writing noted in progress reports.  (P-12; P-25; 

P-26)  

 18. For the current school year, the Student still attends School B.   However, 

the Student did not go to school for the first month or so.   There are about seven to 

twelve children in the classrooms, but the Student misses a lot of academic classes and is 

doing poorly in all of them except a class on auto technology.  The Student has become 

standoffish with staff, and often does no work.  (Testimony of Witness E; Testimony of 

Student)   

VII. Conclusions of Law 
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 Based upon the above Findings of Fact, the arguments of counsel, as well as this 

Hearing Officer’s own legal research, the Conclusions of Law of this Hearing Officer are 

as follows: 

  DCPS has the burden of persuasion on the appropriateness of the existing or 

proposed IEP program or placement, though Petitioner must establish a prima facie case 

before the burden of persuasion falls on DCPS. The burden of persuasion shall be met by 

a preponderance of the evidence.  D.C. Code Sect. 38-2571.03 

 In matters alleging a procedural violation, a hearing officer may find that a child 

did not receive a FAPE only if the procedural inadequacies: (i) Impeded the child's right 

to a FAPE; (ii) Significantly impeded the parent's opportunity to participate in the 

decision-making process regarding the provision of a FAPE to the parent's child; or (iii)  

Caused a deprivation of educational benefit.   34 CFR Sect. 300.513(a). 

 1.  Did the Student’s IEP dated April 12, 2016 provide an inappropriate 
classification, insufficient specialized instruction, an inadequate transition plan, 
inadequate information regarding the student’s current levels, inadequate 
behavioral support services, and inadequate supplemental aids and supports? If so, 
did DCPS violate 34 CFR Sect. 300.320, 34 CFR Sect. 300.17, 34 CFR Sect. 300.324, 
and act in contravention of some of the principles in such cases as Hendrick Hudson 
Bd. Of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176 (1982)? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a 
FAPE? 
 
 a. Eligibility Category. 
 
 This is a Student who was classified as a student with Multiple Disabilities 

(Emotional Disturbance, Other Health Impairment) pursuant to the April 12, 2016 IEP.   

Petitioner contended that the Student was not a student with Other Health Impairment 

because the Student did not meet the criteria for Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder.   
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 Petitioner does not acknowledge that the psychiatric evaluation by the 

Government of the District of Columbia Department of Mental Health was conducted of 

the Student on or about March 30, 2016 diagnosed the Student as having ADHD-

combined type and Oppositional Defiant Disorder. (P-62-5)    

 Moreover, even were the OHI designation inaccurate, there is nothing in the 

IDEA that requires a school district to include the parenthetical, as stated above, in the 

IEP next to “Multiple Disabilities.”    The definition in the IDEA reads only as follows:   

Multiple disabilities means concomitant impairments (such as mental retardation-

blindness or mental retardation-orthopedic impairment), the combination of which causes 

such severe educational needs that they cannot be accommodated in special education 

programs solely for one of the impairments.  34 C.F.R. Sect. 300.8(7).    

 This claim is without merit.        

 b. Specialized Instruction. 

 Petitioner contended that the Student did not receive sufficient specialized 

instruction in the IEP.   

 A main role of the hearing officer is to determine if the individualized educational 

program developed through the Act's procedures is reasonably calculated to enable the 

child to receive additional benefits.   Hendrick Hudson Bd. Of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 

176 (1982) The IEP should be both comprehensive and specific and targeted to the 

Student’s “unique needs.”  McKenzie v. Smith, 771 F.2d 1527, 1533, D.C. Cir. 1985); 

N.S. ex rel. Stein v. District of Columbia, 709 F.Supp.2d 57, 60 (D.D.C. 2010); 34 CFR 

Sect. 300.320(a)(2)(B) (the IEP must contains goals that meet each of the child's 

educational needs that result from the child's disability); 34 CFR Sect. 
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300.324(a)(1)(iv)(the IEP must address the academic, developmental, and functional 

needs of the child).  

 The IEP provided for twenty hours of specialized instruction outside general 

education.   Petitioner does not reference this claim in the brief, and indeed the Student’s 

own contention was there was too much specialized instruction outside of general 

education (and that too much of the work was easy).   I do not agree with the Student that 

there was too much specialized instruction, nor did any of the witnesses on either side.  

The record shows that the twenty hours of specialized instruction outside of general 

education – as recommended on the IEP – was in fact appropriate.   All the reports in the 

record show that the Student needed and received additional assistance in the three main 

academic areas:  reading, writing and math.   This claim has no merit.     

 c. Transition Plan. 
  
 Petitioner contended that the transition plan in the IEP was inadequate even 

though Witness F, an expert, deemed it to be appropriate.   Petitioner contended that 

Witness F’s opinion is not credible since he did not know the Student.   

 These services are required for sixteen-year old students and older.  They are 

defined as "a coordinated set of activities for a child with a disability" that is a "results 

oriented process" that is "based on the individual child's needs." 34 C.F.R. Sect. 300.43. 

The focus is to "improve the academic and functional achievement of a child with a 

disability, to facilitate the child's movement from school to post-school activities." Id.  

Services must be "based on an individual child's needs, taking into account the child's 

strengths, preferences and interests" and includes instruction, related services, community 

experiences, employment and other post-school adult living objectives, and "if 
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appropriate" acquisition of daily living skills and provision of a functional vocational 

evaluation. Id.; 71 Fed. Reg. 46579 (2006)(definition of transition services is written 

broadly).   The IEP must include appropriate measurable post-secondary goals based 

upon appropriate transition assessments relating to training, education, employment, and 

where appropriate independent living skills. 34 C.F.R. Sect. 300.320(b); 20 U.S.C. Sect. 

1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(VII). 

 Transition services are no trivial matter.   As recently stated by a federal court: 

Congress in the IDEA placed "added emphasis on 
transition services so that special education students leave 
the system ready to be full productive citizens, whether 
they choose to go on to college or a job." 150 Cong. Rec. 
S11653-01, S11656 (Nov. 19, 2004) (Conf. Rep. 
accompanying H.R. 1350) (Statement of Sen. Dodd). 
Among its many changes, the IDEIA is supposed to 
"enhance[ ] planning and transition services for children 
with disabilities," id. at S11655 (statement of Sen. Reed), 
and "significantly improve[ ]  transition services to ensure 
that students with disabilities are prepared for 
postsecondary education or employment." Id. at S11659 
(statement of Sen. Bingaman). 

 Still, a violation of a requirement to create a transition plan is ordinarily 

considered a procedural violation.   See, e.g., Carrie I. v. Department of Educ., 869 F. 

Supp.2d 1225 (D. Haw. 2012)(while noting that a violation of transition services rules is 

a procedural violation, where a transition services plan that was "essentially nonexistent," 

FAPE denial resulted). 

   As recognized by Witness F, the transition plan here met all the requirements of 

the law.    It was based on two assessments, the O*Net Interest Profiler and the Brigance 

assessment.   The plan contains references to the Student’s specific interest, which is 

working with animals.  It provides reasonably specific goals in education, employment, 
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and independent living.   Witness F’s testimony was convincing in this connection, and 

Petitioner did not call any witnesses to the contrary.   This claim is without merit.       

  d. Inadequate Information Regarding Current Levels. 

 Pursuant to 34 C.F.R. Sect. 300.320(a)(i), each IEP must contain: "A statement of 

the child's present levels of academic achievement and functional performance.”  The 

statement of the child's present levels of academic achievement and functional 

performance helps to describe the problems that interfere with the child's education so 

that annual goals can be developed. The needs must be written in the IEP so that 

everyone working with the child knows the level at which the child is functioning. The 

written levels also help the IEP team develop a document that will provide the child with 

an appropriate education. The statement of present levels of academic performance 

essentially creates a baseline for designing educational programming and measuring 

future progress. Bakersfield City Sch. Dist., 51 IDELR 142 (SEA CA 2008). 

 Petitioner’s contention here is that the April, 2016 IEP contained the same exact 

language in two different sections, the reading section and the writing section.   In fact, a 

review of the documents reveals that the section “Area of Concern: Academic-Reading” 

is identical to the section “Area of Concern: Academic-Written Expression” -- for the 

first two paragraphs.    

 However, those sections diverge at paragraph three and four.  In the reading 

section, in the third paragraph, scores are, naturally, reported in connection to reading.  In 

the writing section, in the third paragraph, scores are, naturally, reported in connection to 

writing.   The reading section also includes a fourth paragraph to urge that the Student 
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work on reading comprehension and reading fluency.  There is no fourth paragraph in the 

writing section.    

 It is understandable that there would be some overlap between the reading and the 

writing sections, since the two disciplines are intertwined.  There is no claim that there is 

anything in these sections is inaccurate, or that any of important information was left out 

of these sections.    

  These claims are without merit. 

 e. Behavioral Supports/Supplemental Services. 

  A Behavior Intervention Plan is not required under the IDEA.  The IDEA 

requires that the IEP team shall consider the use of positive behavioral supports and other 

strategies to address that behavior in conformance with the IDEA and its implementing 

regulations. 20 U.S.C. Sect. 1414(d)(3)(B)(i); 34 C.F.R. Sect. 300.324(a)(2)(i).  

According to 5-E DCMR Sect. 3007.3, if a student’s behavior impedes the child's 

learning or the learning of others, the IEP team shall consider strategies, including 

positive behavioral intervention, strategies, and supports, to address that behavior.    

 Still, there is some District of Columbia precedent establishes that school districts 

must address a Student’s emotional and behavioral issues if they adversely affect a 

Student’s educational performance.   Long v. Dist. of Columbia, 780 F. Supp.2d 49 

(D.D.C. 2008)(in ruling the District failed to provide an BIP for a Student, court stated 

that “the quality of a student’s education is inextricably linked to the student’s 

behavior”);  cf.  T.M. v. District of Columbia, 75 F.Supp.3d 233, 246 (D.D.C. 

2014)(finding no violation where the LEA “had a BIP in place” at the time of the alleged 

misbehavior).  
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 Here, there was a BIP in place at the time of the IEP formulation, which is the 

BIP that was created by Witness D in or about January, 2016.   The BIP calculated that 

the Student’s school performance was improving because of the new practice (as of 

November, 2015) of tying the Student’s allowance to school performance.   Additionally, 

DCPS wrote a detailed FBA for the Student at about the same time, which provided a fair 

amount of background and posited that the Student’s attendance issues could be 

maintained through current supports.  While it is conceivable that Respondent could have 

written a more thorough BIP, on these facts Respondent has done enough to meet its 

burden.   

 Petitioner also contended that the recommendation of sixty minutes a month of 

behavioral support services were inadequate.   This is a decrease from the thirty minutes a 

month that was recommended in the prior IEP, ostensibly because the Student needed 

more time in class.   While I am not necessarily convinced that this rationale was totally 

valid, the decrease of some thirty minutes a month of counseling was not going to 

significantly alter this Student’s program.  This is especially true because the Student’s 

main issue, attendance, was clearly not affected by going to counseling.    

 It is noted that Witness D, who came across credibly, suggested that she was 

making herself available to the Student for more than the hours on the mandate.   This 

claim is without merit.     

 2. Did DCPS fail to provide the Student with a timely FBA in connection to 
the 2015-2016 school year? If so, did DCPS fail to assess the Student in all areas of 
suspected disability? If so, did DCPS violate 28 U.S.C. Sect.1414(b)(3), 34 C.F.R. 
Sect.300.304(c), and related provisions? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE?  
 
 3. Did DCPS fail to provide the Student with an appropriate BIP for the 
2015-2016 school year? If so, did DCPS violate, inter alia, 34 CFR Sect. 300.320, 34 
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CFR Sect. 300.17, 34 CFR Sect. 300.324, related provisions of the DCMS, and act in 
contravention of some of the principles in such cases as Hendrick Hudson Bd. Of 
Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176 (1982)? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE? 
 
 a. FBA 

 Petitioner contended that the Student should have had an FBA well before the 

January, 2016 document that was written by Witness D.     

 With respect to the FBA, the role of this assessment is to determine the cause, or 

"function," of the behaviors and then the consequences of that behavior. Harris v. Dist. of 

Columbia, 561 F. Supp. 2d 63, 68 (D.D.C. 2008). The FBA should focus on the 

antecedents to the behaviors, on the theory that a change in the antecedents can lead to a 

change in the behaviors. C.F. ex rel. R.F. v. New York City Dep't of Educ., 2011 WL 

5130101 at *9 (S.D.N.Y. 2011); R.K. ex rel. R.K. v. New York City Dep't of Educ., 2011 

WL 1131492 at *19 (S.D.N.Y. 2011).  

 Still, there is no specific requirement in the statute or the regulations for an FBA 

to be conducted except in certain circumstances involving discipline that are not present 

here. 34 CFR Sect. 300.530(f)(1)(i). The requirement here is for the LEA to use a variety 

of assessment tools and strategies to gather relevant functional, developmental, and 

academic information, including information provided by the parent, that may assist in 

determining (i) whether the child is a child with a disability; and (ii) the content of the 

child's individualized education program, including information related to enabling the 

child to be involved in and progress in the general education curriculum, or, for preschool 

children, to participate in appropriate activities. The LEA should not use any single 

measure or assessment as the sole criterion for determining whether a child is a child with 

a disability or determining an appropriate educational program for the child, and use 
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technically sound instruments that may assess the relative contribution of cognitive and 

behavioral factors, in addition to physical or developmental factors. 28 U.S.C. 

Sect.1414(b)(2); 34 CFR Sect. 300.304(b). 

 There is recent authority within the circuit that an FBA is not required to assess 

the Student’s behavior, even in the context of an assessment of a student with clear 

behavioral issues.   E.L. Haynes Pub. Charter Sch. v. Frost, 66 IDELR 287 (D.D.C 2015) 

(LEA is not obligated to conduct a functional behavior assessment to assess a child in all 

areas of suspected disability).   Additionally, there was an assessment of the Student’s 

behavioral issues near to the start of the 2015-2016 school year.  The then-current IEP, 

dated May 15, 2015, states that the Student had recently been assessed through the test, 

Ohio Youth Problems Functioning and Satisfaction Scales.  These scales indicated that 

the Student had too much energy, trouble concentrating, and trouble expressing feelings.  

Thereafter, DCPS compiled a document entitled “Analysis of Existing Data” which 

suggests that the District did undertake some additional analysis of the Student’s behavior 

through teacher reports, observations, and counseling reports.   This document also 

indicated that a GAINS-SS assessment (Global Appraisal of Individual Needs 

Assessment) was conducted of the Student in November, 2015.    The document does not 

quite assess the “function” of the behaviors, but the document discusses the kinds of 

behaviors, the context for those behaviors, and the antecedents to those behaviors.  (R-5-

4)   Under the circumstances, I do not agree that the failure to write an FBA until January, 

2016 denied the Student a FAPE.        

 b. BIP.   
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 There was in fact a BIP written in or about January, 2016.   The question here is 

whether DCPS denied the Student a FAPE because there was no behavior plan in place 

for the Student from August, 2015 to the date of the BIP.    

 As pointed out, there is precedent establishing that school districts must address a 

Student’s emotional and behavioral issues if they adversely affect a Student’s educational 

performance.   Long v. Dist. of Columbia, 780 F. Supp.2d 49 (D.D.C. 2008)(in ruling the 

District failed to provide an BIP for a Student, court stated that “the quality of a student’s 

education is inextricably linked to the student’s behavior”); cf.  T.M. v. District of 

Columbia, 75 F.Supp.3d 233, 246 (D.D.C. 2014)(finding no violation where the LEA 

“had a BIP in place” at the time of the alleged misbehavior).    

 During 2014-2015 school year, the Student’s behavior impeded others, and she 

bottled up her anger and sometimes exploded.   The Student was having difficulty 

concentrating, attending and getting passing grades and was feeling hopeless.   All told, 

for the 2014-2015 school year, the Student was marked absent approximately eighty-nine 

absences and failed two academic classes.  Since the Student had been absent only eleven 

times the previous year, and since the absences were related to the Student’s disability (as 

indicated by Witness A), a new approach was necessary for 2015-2016, whether through 

a BIP or through an order for additional services per the May, 2015 IEP.  

 However, nothing at all was done to provide the Student with additional services 

or an additional plan.   In fact, DCPS reduced the Student’s behavioral support services 

from 120 minutes per month to ninety minutes per month in the May, 2015 IEP.   
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Moreover, regarding social and emotional issues, the May, 2015 IEP has the exact same 

language -- word for word -- as the ineffective May, 2014 IEP (P-15).3        

 The May, 2015 IEP does contain a section entitled “Other Classroom Aids and 

Services” which provides classroom aids for the student, including crisis intervention, 

anger management training, simplified directions, reduced length and breadth of 

assignments, and rephrasing/simplification of questions and materials.  However, again, 

this language was simply lifted from the prior IEP.   No new classroom aids were added 

to this IEP, and certainly nothing was done to try to improve the Student’s attendance in 

this IEP.    

 It is noted that Respondent has an “affirmative duty” to address a Student’s 

truancy where the truancy is linked to student disability, as Witness A clearly did here 

without any rebuttal.  Lexington County Sch. Dist. One v. Frazier, 57 IDELR 190 (D.S.C. 

2011)(SRO's ruling that District failed to assess Student's truancy issue upheld by District 

Court); Springfield School Committee v. Doe, 623 F.Supp.2d 150 (D. Mass 

2009)(“behavior management services” fall within the scope of  IDEA); cf.  R.B. v. 

Mastery Charter School, 762 F. Supp.2d 745 (E.D. Pa 2010)(District had duty to respond 

to absences through educational intervention); Independent Sch. Dist. No. 284, Wayzata 

Area Sch. v. A.C., 258 F.2d 769 (8th Cir. 2001)(neuropsychological assessment 

                                                 
3 In the section entitled “Area of Concern”: Emotional, Social and Behavioral Development, the language 
in the May, 2015 IEP is was completely recycled from the previous year.   This is also true for the section 
entitled “Present Levels of Academic Performance and Functional Performance,” the section entitled 
“Description of how the Student’s disability affects the student’s access to the general education 
curriculum,” and the section entitled “Description of how the student’s disability affects the student’s 
progress in the general education curriculum.”  Moreover, the three goals for the student are the same, word 
for word.               
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conducted of truant student; assessment was relied upon by the court to determine 

appropriate educational program for Student).   

 DCPS did eventually put in place a plan for the Student’s behavior in or about 

mid-November, 2015, when the Student’s attendance was tied to allowance money.   

Still, for the three months prior, DCPS did not “consider” behavioral supports for the 

Student, as it is required to do pursuant to the IDEA and the DCMR.   Under the 

circumstances, I agree that DCPS denied the Student a FAPE when it failed to provide 

the Student with sufficient behavioral interventions from the start of the 2015-2016 

school year until in or about mid-November, 2015.     

 4. Did DCPS fail to implement the Student’s applicable IEPs for the 2015- 
2016 school year? If so, did DCPS violate the principles in cases like Van Duyn v. 
Baker Sch. Dist. 5J, 502 F.3d 811, 822 (9th Cir. 2007)? If so, did DCPS deny the 
Student a FAPE? 
 
 Petitioner contended that the Student did not receive specialized instruction due in 

the classroom and did not receive the recommended behavioral supports.  

 “Failure to implement” claims are actionable if the school district cannot 

materially implement an IEP. A party alleging such a claim must show more than a de 

minimis failure, and must show substantial or significant portions of the IEP could not be 

implemented. Savoy v. District of Columbia, 844 F. Supp.2d 23 (D.D.C. 2012)(holding 

no failure to implement where District’s school setting provided ten minutes less of 

specialized instruction per day that was on the IEP); see also Van Duyn ex rel Van Duyn 

v. Baker School Dist. 5J, 502 F.3d 811 (9th Cir. 2007).    

 Petitioner’s contentions here are premised on the testimony of the Student, who, 

largely, I did not find to be credible.   Among other things, the Student testified that no 

one at the school talked with the Student about attendance in 2015-2016 even though 
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there is an attendance plan in the record that the Student signed in February, 2016 (R-6-

16) and evidence that the Student’s attendance issues were discussed with Witness D. (R-

3-16)    

 Petitioner argued that Respondent was marked absent on days when the Student 

was supposedly seen by Witness D, as stated in the service trackers.  However, Witness 

D explained that if the Student was absent from one class, the Student would be marked 

absent for the entire day.   Witness D made clear that the Student did receive behavioral 

support services, and Witness G testified that the Student received the required 

specialized instruction hours and transition services.  

 This claim is without merit.  

 5. Did DCPS provide the Student with an inappropriate educational 
placement for the 2015-2016 school year? If so, did DCPS act in contravention of 
some of the principles in such cases as Gellert v. District of Columbia, 435 F. 
Supp.2d 18 (D.D.C. 2006)? If so, did Respondent deny the Student a FAPE?     
 
 Petitioner’s contention is that the Student needed a different environment in the 

classroom, which led to the Student’s history of conflict with peers, and with one student 

in particular.   Petitioner contends, generally, that the school is chaotic and unsafe, that 

the school is too large, and that the school does not care for the Student’s disability.   

 Most cases involving FAPE denial focus on the IEP, the “centerpiece” of the Act.   

Honig v. Doe, 484 U.S. 305, 311 (1988).   Nevertheless, Petitioners may bring claims 

based upon an inappropriate placement4 in certain situations.   Although the LEA has 

                                                 
4 As pointed out in Eley v. District of Columbia, 47 F. Supp. 3d 131 (D.D.C. 2014), the Student’s 
educational placement includes the school, or location of services. 
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some discretion with respect to school selection,5 that discretion cannot be exercised in 

such a manner to deprive a Student of a FAPE.  Gellert v. District of Columbia, 435 F. 

Supp.2d 18 (D.D.C. 2006); Holmes v. District of Columbia, 680 F. Supp. 40 (D.D.C. 

1988).    Courts can accordingly rule that school assignments violate the IDEA if, for 

instance, the school contains an environment that allows bullying.   Shore Regional High 

School Board of Education v. P.S., 381 F.3d 194 (3d Cir. 2004)(denial of FAPE based on 

the likelihood that a proposed placement would subject a student with an emotional 

disability to continued bullying because of his perceived effeminacy); M.L. v. Federal 

Way School District, 394 F.3d 634 (9th Cir. 2005)(if a teacher is deliberately indifferent 

to the teasing of child with a disability and the abuse is so severe that the child can derive 

no benefit from the services that he or she is offered by the school district, the child has 

been denied FAPE).  

 Petitioner’s bases this claim largely on the Student’s testimony, which I have not 

found credible.   The Student says they did not want to go to school at School B because 

of safety reasons, pointing to the actions of a certain student that the Student got into a 

fight with.   However, the Student never told Witness D about not feeling safe during any 

counseling sessions, and there is no documentation corroborating this testimony.   

 The Student also testified that there had been no such peer-related disputes  

during the current school year, suggesting that any issues that the Student may have had 

in school were extinguished by dint of the mediation the school conducted.    

 Moreover, the Student did not exactly say that the school was chaotic or too big 

for her to learn.  Rather, much of the Student’s testimony was along the lines of an 
                                                 
5 See Jalloh v. District of Columbia, 968 F.Supp.2d 203 (despite complaints about, among other things. the 
school’s use of computers for instruction, school deemed able to implement the IEP and placement claims 
denied).    
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educational malpractice claim, arguing, without any corroboration in the record, that the 

teachers largely just give work and then “call it a day.”  I found these Student statements 

less a reflection on the school than a reflection of the Student’s overall social and 

emotional issues.        

    This claim must be dismissed.   

VIII.  Relief. 

 As relief, Petitioner seeks: 1) a new location of services for the Student; 2) 

compensatory education in the form of a compensatory transition assessment; an 

independent assessment of “school engagement and truancy risk factors”; 50 hours of 

transition support, career exploration, and college counseling; tuition for an online SAT 

or ACT class; 32 hours of special education tutoring for SAT or ACT preparation; 30 

hours of tutoring; 50 hours of behavioral support services; a tablet with a keyboard or 

laptop; an internship in veterinary science; and transportation to and from each service.   

  Where Districts have failed to offer students a FAPE, courts have wide discretion 

to ensure that students receive a FAPE going forward.   As the Supreme Court has stated: 

   The statute directs the court to “grant such relief as [it]  
  determines is appropriate.” The ordinary meaning of  
  these words confers broad discretion on the court. The  
  type of relief is not further specified, except that it must  
  be “appropriate.” Absent other reference, the only possible  
  interpretation is that the relief is to be “appropriate” in light  
  of the purpose of the Act.  As already noted, this is principally  
  to provide handicapped children with “a free appropriate public  
  education which emphasizes special education and related  
  services designed to meet their unique needs. 
 
School Committee of the Town of Burlington v. Dep't of Education, Massachusetts, 471 

U.S. 359, 371 (1985).   
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 Petitioner’s request for a new location of services, i.e., a new school, is 

understandable given that the Student clearly does not like School B.  However, I have 

not found School B to be inappropriate pursuant to law.   There is no credible showing 

that the school is chaotic, and there is nothing in the record to indicate that the Student 

has been bullied at the school or is unsafe at the school.   Moreover, this is a school that 

can, and has, implemented the Student’s IEPs.   While it may be a good idea to change 

schools given the Student’s apparent dislike for the school, it would be inappropriate for 

a hearing officer to do so on these facts.     

 Petitioner also seeks compensatory education.   In regard to compensatory 

education, courts and hearing officers may award “educational services to be provided 

prospectively to compensate for a past deficient program.” Reid v. District of Columbia, 

401 F.3d 516, 521-23 (D.C. Cir. 2005).  In every case, however, the inquiry must be fact-

specific and, to accomplish IDEA's purposes, the ultimate award must be reasonably 

calculated to provide the educational benefits that likely would have accrued from special 

education services the school district should have supplied in the first place. Id., 401 F. 

3d at 524; see also Friendship Edison Public Charter School v. Nesbitt, 532 F. Supp. 2d 

121, 125 (D.D.C. 2008) (compensatory award must be based on a "'qualitative, fact-

intensive' inquiry used to craft an award 'tailored to the unique needs of the disabled 

student").  

 A Petitioner need not "have a perfect case” to be entitled to a compensatory 

education award. Stanton v. District of Columbia, 680 F. Supp. 201 (D.D.C. 2011). 

Under the IDEA, if a Student is denied a FAPE, a hearing officer may not “simply 

refuse” to grant one. Henry v. District of Columbia, 55 IDELR 187 (D.D.C. 2010).   
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Some students may require only short, intensive compensatory programs targeted at 

specific problems or deficiencies. Reid, 401 F.3d at 524. 

 Petitioner’s extensive compensatory education proposal is not in sync with the 

deprivation here.   There was no finding of a FAPE denial with respect to the Student’s 

transition services or evaluations.  Rather, I have found that the Student was deprived a 

FAPE from the start of the 2015-2016 school year through to mid-November, 2015 

because of a lack of behavioral interventions.   Accordingly, I will only consider 

Petitioner’s compensatory education proposals for counseling and tutoring to remedy that 

period of time. 

 Petitioner presented the testimony of Witness J, who testified that the Student 

would benefit from truancy services.  In connection to these services, Witness J’s firm 

assesses the Student and then writes and implements a program for the Student to become 

better engaged in school.   Given that attendance is the key for this Student, and since 

such a plan was clearly lacking at the time of the deprivation, this is an appropriate 

award.  I will set a limit of thirty billable hours for Witness J’s firm regarding the truancy 

plan.  

 I also agree that the modest request for thirty hours of individualized instruction is 

reasonable.    The Student was denied a FAPE for about three months, which represents 

far more time than the thirty hours requested.  In fact, thirty hours of school time 

ordinarily represents approximately a single week of instruction at a school.   To make 

sure that this individualized instruction is given properly, I will require that a special 

education teacher provide the lessons.  To make sure that the order is implemented, I will 

require that the Student attend these sessions or provide a medical note.   If the Student 
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misses three sessions without a medical note, the school district has the option to 

terminate the tutoring.    

IX.  Order 

 As a result of the foregoing: 

 1. Respondent is deemed to have denied the Student a FAPE;  

 2. The Student is hereby awarded thirty hours of compensatory tutoring, to 

be provided by a special education teacher; 

 3. If the Student is absent from three sessions of compensatory tutoring 

without a medical note, the school district has the option to discontinue the tutoring;  

 4. The Student shall be subject to an assessment by the company run by 

Witness J further to a truancy prevention program;  

 5. The company run by Witness J shall then write a truancy prevention 

program for the Student and implement the plan; 

 6. The company run by Witness J shall bill, in total, thirty hours in  

connection to the truancy assessment, the plan, and implementation of the plan;   

 7. Petitioner’s other requests for relief are hereby denied. 

 Dated: November 26, 2016 

       Michael Lazan      
                                                                                     Impartial Hearing Officer 
   
 
cc: Office of Dispute Resolution  
 Attorney A, Esq. 
 Attorney B, Esq. 
 OSSE Division of Specialized Education  
 Contact.resolution@dc.gov 
 Chief Hearing Officer 
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X.  Notice of Appeal Rights 
 

 This is the final administrative decision in this matter.  Any party aggrieved by 

this Hearing Officer Determination may bring a civil action in any state court of 

competent jurisdiction or in a District Court of the United States without regard to the 

amount in controversy within ninety (90) days from the date of the Hearing Officer 

Determination in accordance with 20 USC §1415(i). 

Date: November 26, 2016 
   
       Michael Lazan 
               Impartial Hearing Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 




